RECEIVED

Jun 03 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2024-UP-077 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed March 13, 2024)

Lower Court Case No. 2018-CP-42-00711

BRITTANY C. FOSTER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000774

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding it was highly unlikely that suppressing Foster's confessions would have materially decreased the odds of an unfavorable trial outcome, since effective counsel would have recognized that while Foster did not have a viable self-defense claim she did have reasonable grounds for a jury to find her guilty of the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter based on two different theories raised by the evidence in this case?
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding Foster's testimony regarding proceeding to trial was not credible, since that finding was wholly without support in the record and the PCR court only found her not credible on one of eight grounds raised during PCR?
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not addressing Foster's PCR ground that counsel should have advised her she could move to suppress her confessions, where caselaw shows counsel was incorrect in his assessment that such attempts would be unsuccessful, and where counsel's deficient performance resulted in Foster's entry of pleas that were not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily tendered?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the August 2016 term, a Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted the petitioner, Brittany C. Foster, for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, unlawful carrying of a pistol, and possession of methamphetamine. On April 27, 2017, Foster pleaded guilty as indicted before the Honorable Letitia Verdin. Barry Joe Barnette represented the State. Robert Hall represented Foster. Foster was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of

imprisonment of forty years for murder, five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, one year for unlawful carrying of a pistol, and three years for possession of methamphetamine. App. 307 – 312; App. 1; App. 27, ll. 16-19. Notice of intent to appeal the guilty pleas was timely filed and served and the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR. The remittitur was issued August 3, 2017.

On February 27, 2018, Foster filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). On May 4, 2018, the State made its return and motion for a more definite statement. On June 7, 2018, Foster filed an amended PCR application. On November 8, 2018, a hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. Foster was represented by Susannah Ross. The State was represented by Jordan Cox. On January 24, 2020, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 29; App. 30; App. 31 – 37; App. 38 – 45; App. 46 – 48; App. 49; App. 293 – 306. Notice of intent to appeal the order of dismissal was timely filed and served on January 28, 2020.

Foster filed a petition for writ of certiorari. The State made its return. On January 15, 2021, this Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 243(l), SCACR. On August 19, 2022, the Court of Appeals granted certiorari. Foster filed her brief of petitioner. The State filed its brief of respondent. A three-judge panel of the Court of Appeals heard oral argument on February 6, 2024. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion, *Foster v. State*, Op. No. 2024-UP-077 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 13, 2024). Petitioner moved for rehearing. The Court of Appeals denied rehearing. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

REASONS WHY CERTIORARI SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should grant certiorari because substantial constitutional issues are directly involved. This case involves the erroneous deprivation of the right to effective assistance of

counsel. Counsel was ineffective because he had an incorrect understanding of points of law critical to the case—suppression based on unconstitutional searches and seizures and involuntary confessions. U.S. Const. amend. IV; VI; XIV. *See* Rule 242(b)(4), SCACR.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Brittany Foster’s case stemmed from the 2016 death of the decedent, forty-five-year-old Anthony Biggerstaff. Foster was twenty-one years old with a ninth-grade education. She was in special education classes throughout school. She had brain damage, epileptic seizures, and learning disabilities. She was sexually abused by her own father at the age of eleven, and her mother was addicted to drugs. Foster had a significant history of cutting herself. She became addicted to drugs at the age of fifteen. She was raped at age eighteen. App. 311 – 312; App. 6, ll. 11-14; App. 218; App. 93, ll. 4-5; App. 88, ll. 7-10; App. 85, l. 17 – 86, l. 22; App. 219; App. 86, l. 23 – 87, l. 1; App. 89, ll. 5-15.

In May of 2016, Foster was living with her boyfriend, Keenen Hines (Hines). The two were roommates with the decedent. Decedent had been taking Foster’s panties. One day, Foster woke up in “excruciating pain,” bleeding from the vagina and rectum. She asked Hines if he had sex with her: Hines said he had not. Hines became angry with Foster and accused her of cheating on him with the decedent—the only other person in the house. However, Foster would later realize that Hines may have “sold” her to the decedent when she was “passed out.” App. 11, l. 22 – 12, l. 1; App. 64, l. 24 – 65, l. 6; App. 65, l. 8 – 66, l. 8; App. 63, l. 25 – 66, l. 3; App. 22, ll. 4-6; State’s Exhibit #5.

On May 29, 2016, Hines, Foster, and the decedent were together in the decedent’s car. The night would end with the decedent dead in a creek and his car floating in Lake Bowen. After authorities found the decedent’s car floating in the lake and what appeared to be a suicide note

nearby, police began looking for Foster and Hines, since they were the decedent's roommates. App. 13, l. 15 – 14, l. 18; App. 255; App. 11, l. 13 – 14, l. 1. On May 30, 2016, Investigator Clark interviewed Foster and Hines at a hotel. According to Clark, Foster and Hines said they were staying at the hotel because the decedent told them they had to move out. Clark said Foster “made the comment that [the decedent] had made several sexual comments and advances towards her,” but that Foster and Hines “were hesitant to talk to me.” Clark left after giving them his business card. App. 143; App. 150; App. 164.

Four days later, on June 2, 2016, Foster and Hines were passengers in car driven by Jessica Nesbitt (Nesbitt). The car was pulled over because Officer Henderson could not read the date on the car's paper tag. No traffic violations were observed. Nesbitt was in the driver's seat, Hines was in the passenger's seat, and Foster sat in the rear. Nesbitt continued driving briefly before she pulled over. When Nesbitt looked through purses in the trunk for her driver's license, Officer Henderson saw a bag of methamphetamine. Nesbitt admitted the methamphetamine was hers. Henderson asked Nesbitt about the presence of any weapons, and Nesbitt said that Hines had a gun. There was a gun under the front passenger seat where Hines had been seated. There was marijuana inside a bookbag on the passenger floorboard. App. 196; App. 99, ll. 15-21; App. 196 – 197; App. 99, l. 22 – 101, l. 25; App. 196; App. 200; App. 197.

Although nothing linked Foster to the gun under Hines' seat, the methamphetamine in Nesbitt's trunk, or the marijuana in the bookbag by Hines, Foster was arrested along with Nesbitt and Hines. All three—Nesbitt, Hines, and Foster—were charged with unlawful carrying of a pistol, possession of methamphetamine, and possession of marijuana. Nesbitt was charged with additional drug crimes for more drugs found on her person. App. 200; App. 102, l. 23 – 103, l. 2; R. 13, ll. 2-8; App. 197.

After Foster was taken to the jail, Investigator Clark, who wanted the opportunity to question her again, began to interrogate Foster. Foster, who was under the influence of drugs and alcohol, admitted shooting the decedent. Foster was read *Miranda*¹ warnings and officers took her out to look for the body, but this was unsuccessful. Foster was taken to the Sheriff's Department and again provided *Miranda*. Investigator Clark obtained a recorded confession from Foster in which she admitted that she had killed the decedent and said Hines helped her dispose of the body. App. 103, ll. 4-15; App. 57, ll. 15-18; App. 59, ll. 2-9; App. 166; App. 145; App. 166; App. 145; App. 166; App. 204; State's Exhibit #4. During the interrogation, Foster stated the day before the shooting, Decedent had set up her and Hines to get "jumped" behind Decedent's house. Foster said they were chased, and Hines was beaten with metal poles and bats. Foster's meager belongings were stolen. The day of the shooting, Foster stated Decedent was trying to get sex from her and was saying "nasty things" to her. Decedent had her stolen belongings. He was taunting Foster about having them jumped. Foster told law enforcement she was getting "angrier and angrier." Foster stated she finally shot Decedent. State's Exhibit #4.

Although she initially denied that Hines was involved in the murder, Foster would later say that Hines gave her the gun, asked her if she was going to let the decedent get away with raping her, and told her, "Do it." Foster stated when the shooting happened, Hines was asking her "if I was just going to let him do that to me." As seen, Foster had been raped while living with Hines and Decedent. Given her profound mental disabilities, Hines's remarks just prior to the shooting gave Foster the insight that the decedent was the person who had raped her the day she woke up bleeding. App. 66, ll. 12-15; App. 14, ll. 3-6; App. 22, l. 4 – 23, l. 24; App. 66, ll. 12-15; App. 63, l. 25 – 66, l. 15; App. 215 – 225.

¹ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Hines was questioned and he admitted he helped hide the decedent's body, and he told law enforcement Foster shot Decedent because he was "touchy-feely" with her, "like a pedophile." Hines said Foster was angry with Decedent and called him a "sick bastard." According to Hines, Foster killed Decedent because Decedent "did grab her panties and stuff like that." Hines stated Decedent had said "perverted things" to Foster. Hines stated the shooting "wasn't planned," and Petitioner told him afterwards that the decedent deserved it. Hines showed officers where the decedent's body was located, and he was charged with accessory after the fact. App. 145; App. 205 – 211; State's Exhibit #5; App. 145; App. 155.

A pre-trial competency examiner noted Foster had "deficits" in her understanding of the legal system and opined that she might need education regarding the legal process. Foster's counsel advised that she plead guilty, straight up. On April 27, 2017, Foster did so. No negotiations had been entered and no recommendations were made. Foster was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of forty years for murder, five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, one year for unlawful carrying of a pistol, and three years for possession of methamphetamine.² App. 224; App. 109, ll. 15-21; App. 113, l. 17 – 114, l. 20; App. 121, l. 20 – 122, l. 1; App. 1; App. 4, ll. 12-14; App. 27, ll. 16-19.

Foster filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). A hearing was held on the matter. Foster testified that plea counsel did not advise her that she could challenge the admissibility of her statements if she went to trial. Foster stated defense counsel did not mention

² At the plea hearing, the solicitor misspoke and said that Nesbitt's car had been pulled over for an expired tag. Plea counsel did not correct this misstatement of fact. Nesbitt was actually pulled over because Officer Henderson said he could not see the expiration date on her temporary tag—the tag was not expired. App. 12, ll. 6-12; App. 99, ll. 15-18; App. 196; App. 99, ll. 15-18; App. 115, ll. 6-22.

a *Jackson v. Denno*³ hearing and did not tell her that a trial judge could, in some circumstances, keep a confession out of a trial. “It was never stated that my – that my confessions could be suppressed, ever.” Foster said that if she had known she could challenge her confessions at trial, she would have taken the case to trial. App. 31 – 37; App. 60, l. 20 – 61, l. 2; App. 69, ll. 18-19; App. 69, ll. 22-25; App. 70, ll. 4-12.

Plea counsel testified that when he first met with Foster she stated she had shot Decedent in self-defense because he was “touching [her] in a sexual manner as [they were] riding down the road.” Plea counsel advised Foster that was not self-defense. Plea counsel testified that he believed, based on a conversation with jailers, that Foster was “covering” for Hines, so counsel demanded Foster tell him what really happened. Plea counsel stated Foster tried to “stick with” her original story, but after attempting to persuade her during additional meetings, Foster eventually stated she shot Decedent but it was only because Hines threatened her at gunpoint. App. 98, ll. 20-24; App. 104, l. 24 – 105, l. 18.

Plea counsel⁴ was asked if he had explained to Foster that she might have a “suppression issue that she could only argue if she went to trial?” and he said, “I don’t know if we had that discussion . . .” PCR counsel asked plea counsel a second time if he specifically recalled discussing with Foster that she waived her right to challenge her confessions if she pleaded guilty rather than going to trial, and he replied, “Well, first of all, I didn’t think we had a good suppression issue. But I did say you’re – and I tell all my clients you’re going to be giving up

³ *Jackson v. Denno*, 377 U.S. 368 (1964).

⁴ Foster alleged plea counsel told her if she did not plead guilty, she would be “hung” by the trial judge. Plea counsel said he would have advised something similar but he would likely have used the word “hanged.” However, plea counsel said he did not think he said that—he would have told her she would get life. App. 109, ll. 15-17; App. 113, ll. 3-16.

any rights to challenge any of the evidence, statements, or anything. And I think the judge – every judge goes through that very well in this State.” App. 120, l. 19 – 122, l. 5.

Notably, what Foster told law enforcement (that she shot Decedent because he had them attacked the day before, and he was in possession of her stolen belongings and was taunting her about the attack), and what she told plea counsel (that she shot decedent because he was sexually touching her in the car, and she realized he had previously raped her) were alternate theories which both could have supported a conviction for voluntary manslaughter rather than murder. However, plea counsel advised Foster to plead guilty straight up to murder. He did not advise her she might be able to suppress her confessions to law enforcement if she went to trial.

The PCR court took the matter under advisement and issued an order wherein the fifteen exhibits that were entered by the State at Foster’s plea hearing were made part of the record of the PCR hearing.⁵ PCR counsel filed a brief in which she argued that the exhibits showed Foster “had a strong search and seizure argument which could likely have resulted in the suppression of her confession as fruit of the poisonous tree,” or as involuntarily made. PCR counsel argued that plea counsel provided deficient performance by advising Foster she should plead guilty based on his opinion that she would be convicted at trial, since his opinion was “based on a mistake of law.” App. 129 – 130; App. 131 – 283; App. 286; App. 289 – 290.

On January 24, 2020, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. Under the general heading: “findings of fact and conclusions of law,” the order stated that the court had observed the witnesses and weighed their testimony and credibility. “These credibility findings have been applied to the Court’s findings and conclusions as set forth below.” The order thereafter

⁵ Copies of the paper and photographic exhibits, as well as footage and audio recordings of both Hines’s and Foster’s interviews with law enforcement are all either included in the Appendix or on file with this Court.

addressed eight distinct claims raised during PCR. The order only made one adverse credibility finding against Foster, when addressing one particular claim—her claim that counsel told her the court would hang her if she went to trial. The PCR court found Foster’s testimony that she pleaded guilty based on a statement from counsel that she would be hung at trial was not credible. App. 293 – 306; App. 298; App. 300 – 305; App. 303.

The order addressed Foster’s allegation that counsel was ineffective for “[a]dvising the Applicant to plea without explaining that she may have been able to get her confession suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree or because it was not voluntarily made due to the fact her statement was given when she was incompetent because of her mental health issues and the fact that she was actively under the influence of drugs.” The order stated that the traffic stop “in which the applicant was a passenger that resulted in the applicant being taken into custody would not have been successful if challenged at a trial.” It also concluded that “her confession to the murder was not a fruit of the search.” App. 301. As to whether counsel should have advised Foster she could challenge the voluntariness of her confessions, the order of dismissal concluded that Foster had not met her burden of proof as to establishing *Strickland* prejudice since she “presented no evidence, other than her own statement that she was ‘extremely high’ at the time of her arrest, to support a finding of incompetency.” App. 301 – 302. (Importantly, however, the PCR court did not make an adverse credibility finding on this allegation.)

In affirming the denial of PCR, the Court of Appeals did not address deficiency and instead focused on prejudice. The Court of Appeals found that, “Regardless of whether plea counsel was deficient, we agree with the PCR court that Foster failed to satisfy the prejudice prong of her ineffective assistance claim.” *Foster v. State*, Op. No. 2024-UP-077 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 13, 2024). “Foster relies on her testimony at the PCR hearing to prove prejudice . . .

However, the PCR court found Foster’s testimony not credible, and we must give great deference to the court’s findings on credibility.” *Id.* (footnote omitted). In a footnote, the Court of Appeals stated: “Foster notes that the PCR court did not explicitly find her testimony regarding proceeding to trial not credible. Though the court made its credibility finding under a separate allegation in the order denying PCR, it is clear throughout the entirety of the order that the court did not think Foster was credible.” *Id.*

The Court of Appeals further concluded that the PCR court found Foster’s testimony that she would have proceeded to trial was not sincere and that a plea was the only rational action for her to take.” *Id.* The Court of Appeals cited *Padilla v. Kentucky*, and found that a decision to go to trial on these facts would have been irrational. “*See Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 371-72 (2010) (concluding, to meet ‘*Strickland*’s high bar,’ the ‘petitioner must convince the court that a decision to [proceed to trial] would have been rational under the circumstances’)[.]” (brackets in original). *Id.* The Court of Appeals concluded that it “seems highly unlikely that suppressing Foster’s confession would have materially decreased the odds of an unfavorable trial outcome. Irrespective of Foster’s confession, law enforcement had other evidence pointing to Foster as the shooter, including a codefendant’s statement against her.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in finding it was highly unlikely that suppressing Foster’s confessions would have materially decreased the odds of an unfavorable trial outcome, since effective counsel would have recognized that while Foster did not have a viable self-defense claim she did have reasonable grounds for a jury to find her guilty of the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter based on two different theories raised by the evidence in this case.

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