RECEIVED

Jul 25 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Trial Judge
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000774

BRITTANY C. FOSTER, #372413,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

SHAYLA J. FLORES
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 106484

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

establish reasonable grounds for a jury to find her guilty of voluntary manslaughter as opposed to murder.

⁵ Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals erred in finding Foster's testimony not credible, However, it is implicitly clear from the order that the PCR Court made a credibility finding regarding Petitioner's testimony and found her testimony at the evidentiary hearing to lack credibility.

⁶ Brittany C. Foster v. State of South Carolina, Op. No. 2024-UP-077 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 13, 2024).

her cooperation with them. (App. pp. 105, l. 19- 106, l. 3). However, Plea Counsel testified that by the time Petitioner started to give a somewhat consistent version of events, Solicitor Barnette was not interested and indicated that he was pursuing the State's case against her. Plea Counsel testified that he had reviewed all of the discovery provided to him with Petitioner during the course of his representation. (App. pp. 103, l. 19-104, l. 20).

Further, Plea Counsel testified during Petitioner's PCR evidentiary hearing, and the PCR court found credible his testimony,⁷ that:

PCR Counsel: And prior to asking for a plea did you explain to her that she may have some arguments for manslaughter and suppression issues that she could only argue if she went to trial?

Plea Counsel: When she made her final decision, I don't know if we had that discussion, but I know we talked about what -- from the very start the lesser included offenses. And I know early on it was very hard to get her off the idea of self-defense. But we did discuss those lesser included and that a jury and a trial could find those, but I didn't think the probability of that happening were very great.

PCR Counsel: Okay. And so do you recall specifically discussing manslaughter with her, whether that could be a potential?

Plea Counsel: No. Like I said, I think on the first -- my first meeting with her we talked about those issues.

PCR Counsel: So you did talk about lesser included, - - those options?

Plea Counsel: Yes. I have -- I don't remember seeing the note where I had manslaughter, 30, and all that -- I know that that's generally what I do. Anybody that's charged with murder I'm going to go over those things with them and try to explain the best I can, particularly when, you know, when you don't have many facts.

⁷ "Counsel testified credibly at the evidentiary hearing." (App. p. 302; p. 303).

It's kind of hard to say how a particular case may fit into those, but we did I know we did talk about those things at different times.

(App. pp. 120, l. 19 – 121, l. 19).

Accordingly, the record reflects that Petitioner was informed of the possibility that she may be convicted of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter should she decide to proceed to trial, advised of Plea Counsel's opinion that the chance of her being convicted of the lesser included offense was unlikely, and having that knowledge decided to enter her guilty plea.

Further, Respondent submits the Court of Appeals was correct in its finding that it appears "highly unlikely that suppressing [Petitioner]'s confessions would have materially decreased the odds of an unfavorable trial outcome" where "[i]rrespective of [Petitioner]'s confession, law enforcement had other evidence pointing to [her] as the shooter, including a co-defendant's statement against her."⁸ Specifically noting the court's citation to Pilla v. United States,⁹ in their holding "finding that proceeding to trial would have been irrational where defendant "faced overwhelming evidence of her guilt" and "had no rational defense, would have been convicted[,] and would have faced a longer term of incarceration."

Petitioner avers that the admissibility of her codefendant Hines' statement is speculative, as "Hines was Foster's boyfriend-he might have refused to testify against her come trial, and if he did not testify, she could have excluded his confession as to her pursuant to *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123 (1968)." (PWC p. 13). Petitioner cites to the Court's holding in State v. McDonald, in her allegation:

In *Bruton v. United States*, the United States Supreme Court held that a defendant's Confrontation Clause rights are violated when a

⁸ Brittany C. Foster v. State of South Carolina, Op. No. 2024-UP-077 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 13, 2024).

⁹ 668 F.3d 368, 373 (6th Cir. 2012).

nontestifying codefendant's confession that implicates the defendant is admitted during a joint trial.

412 S.C. 133, 139, 771 S.E.2d 840, 843 (2015).

Petitioner's contentions that 1) Petitioner and Mr. Hines would have been tried jointly, and 2) Mr. Hines may have refused to testify against her are purely speculative and not supported by the record. The record reflects that Mr. Hines immediately cooperated with officers and even led them to the location of Victim's body following the couples' arrest. Mr. Hines explicitly informed officers that Petitioner was the shooter in this case. Hines further established that he felt he was a victim of Petitioner as well, as he only assisted her in the commission of this crime because he feared retaliation on her part if he did not. (App. pp. 205-211).

Additionally, Petitioner failed to call Mr. Hines as a witness during her PCR evidentiary hearing or present any evidence as to what he would or would not have said in the event that she chose to proceed to a jury trial. See Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 654 S.E.2d 870 (Ct. App. 2007) (Mere speculation of what a witness' testimony may be is insufficient to satisfy the burden of showing prejudice in a petition for PCR); Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005) (a PCR applicant cannot show prejudice from counsel's failure to call a favorable witness to testify at trial if the witness does not testify at the PCR hearing or otherwise offer testimony within the rules of evidence).

Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that it would not have been reasonable for Petitioner to proceed to trial under the circumstances, where the record supports the Court of Appeal's finding that "there was a strong chance [Petitioner] would have been convicted had she proceeded to trial, and it appears [Petitioner] was aware of that risk."¹⁰ Petitioner's awareness of

¹⁰ Brittany C. Foster v. State of South Carolina, Op. No. 2024-UP-077 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 13, 2024).

the risk she faced is further evidenced by her statement during the PCR evidentiary hearing that she pled because she was afraid of receiving a harsher sentence at trial. (App. pp. 56, l. 21 - 57, l. 4). Therefore, Petitioner's allegation that the court erroneously found that Petitioner pled freely, knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily is without merit, as the Court's finding is supported entirely by the record. Thus, This Court should deny certiorari.

"[I]t is the prerogative of any person to waive his rights, confess, and plead guilty, under judicially defined safeguards, which are adequately enforced." Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999). Accordingly, because a criminal defendant waives several constitutional rights by pleading guilty the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 524 S.E.2d 623 (1999).

"The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant." Gustine v. State, 325 S.C. 123, 127, 480 S.E.2d 444, 446 (1997) (citing Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985) (citations omitted)). However, courts have consistently refused to "hold that 'a guilty plea is compelled and invalid under the Fifth Amendment whenever motivated by the defendant's desire to accept the certainty or probability of a lesser penalty rather than face a wider range of possibilities extending from acquittal to conviction and a higher penalty authorized by law for the crime charged.'" Gustine, 325 S.C. at 128, 480 S.E.2d at 446 (quoting Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 751 (1970)).

To be intelligent, a plea must be made by a mentally competent defendant who understands both the charges against him or her and the consequences of his or her plea. Brady, 397 U.S. at 748. To be voluntary, a plea must be free of threats or other coercion that would impermissibly

distort the defendant's choice. Id. at 755; see also United States v. Smith, 440 F.2d 521, 528–529 (7th Cir. 1971) (Stevens, J., dissenting) (explaining voluntariness relates to the trustworthiness of the admission of guilt and binding character of the waiver of the constitutional protections which would be available to the accused if he elected to stand trial).

Before a court can accept a guilty plea, the defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights he or she is waiving; the right to a jury trial, the right to confront one's accusers, and the privilege against self-incrimination. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 243. Additionally, to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, the defendant must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea, including the nature and crucial elements of the offense(s); the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty; and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. Pittman, 337 S.C. at 599, 524 S.E.2d at 624.

However, it is “well established that a guilty plea is not rendered invalid because it represents a compromise by defendant, thrusts a difficult judgment upon him, or is motivated by fear of greater punishment.” United States v. Cox, 464 F.2d 937, 942 (6th Cir. 1972) (citing Brady, 397 U.S. 742). The standard for determining the validity of a guilty plea is “whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” Id. at 31.

A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and “may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant's counsel, or both.” State v. Ray, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993); see also Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997) (guilty plea not involuntary where the colloquy demonstrated the trial judge asked defendant twice whether he understood there were no promises and that no sentencing recommendations were binding on the

judge). To ensure the defendant understands the consequences of his or her guilty or the trial judge “usually questions the defendant about the facts surrounding the crime and punishment that could be imposed.” Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 434–35, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991). However, the trial judge “does not have to direct the defendant’s attention to every consequence of his plea provided the record reveals affirmative awareness of the consequences of a guilty plea.” Carter v. State, 329 S.C. 355, 362, 495 S.E.2d 773, 776 (1998).

The voluntariness of a guilty plea, however, “is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 133, 318 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1984). In evaluating an allegation on PCR that a guilty plea was based on inaccurate advice of counsel, the transcript of the guilty plea hearing will be considered to determine whether any possible error by counsel was cured by the information conveyed at the plea hearing. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 165, 485 S.E.2d at 370; cf. Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 443 S.E.2d 805 (1994) (finding that, where the transcript of the guilty plea proceeding refuted applicant’s claim that he did not understand the terms of a plea bargain, granting PCR was inappropriate notwithstanding applicant’s claim his lawyer misadvised him).

An applicant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may “only attack voluntary, knowing and intelligent character of the plea by showing that plea counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the [Applicant] would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001). As with all post-conviction relief actions, it is the applicant who bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of involuntariness of a plea or ineffectiveness of counsel is not

sufficient to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). Here, Petitioner did not and could not meet her burden of proof and, accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly rejected this claim.

Petitioner alleges she received no benefit by pleading guilty in this case, as her guilty pleas were without negotiation or recommendation. However, as Petitioner was charged with murder, she was facing a sentencing range starting with the mandatory minimum of thirty years' imprisonment that must be served day-for-day up to a sentence of imprisonment for her natural life without the possibility of parole. Petitioner was sentenced to a total of forty years' imprisonment on all charges. Further, Judge Verdin informed Petitioner of the specific benefit that she received by entering her guilty plea during the sentencing phase of her plea hearing as follows:

I will say that your decision to plead guilty and decision to, um, to have some level of cooperation, uh, is going to give you at least an opportunity one day to have some sort of a life...

(App. p. 30, ll. 9-12).

The benefit Petitioner received for her plea is clear, and supports the finding that the Court of Appeals properly determined it was highly unlikely that suppressing Petitioner's confessions would have materially decreased the odds of an unfavorable outcome had she decided to proceed to a jury trial, based upon the hypothetical and slim possibility that she may have been found guilty of the lesser included charge of voluntary manslaughter. See Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011) (“[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just conceivable.”).

- a. Certiorari is not warranted to review the Court of Appeals' proper decision to affirm the denial of post-conviction relief where the court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by Petitioner because of the alleged deficiencies and if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed*

Here, Petitioner did not and could not meet her burden of proof and, accordingly, the court properly rejected this claim. Petitioner has failed to establish any prejudice from the alleged failure to communicate with her the prospects of suppressing the statement. Specifically, she has failed to substantiate the claim that she would have proceeded to trial but for Counsel's alleged failure. Petitioner acknowledged that she pled because she was afraid of a harsher sentence at trial. Counsel corroborated this. Counsel also acknowledged that the confession likely would not have been suppressed and did not alter his advice or opinion that pleading was in Petitioner's best interest.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Petitioner failed to meet her burden of establishing that counsel's alleged failure to inform Petitioner of the possibility that her confessions may have been suppressed had she wished to proceed to trial resulted in the requisite prejudice necessary to reverse his conviction. In light of its holding, the Court of Appeals correctly stated that there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 700 (1984).

Thus, as the Court had correctly determined that Petitioner failed to establish the requisite prejudice, they properly dismissed her claim without examining her PCR allegation, as is required by the governing law. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the post-conviction relief court's denial of relief. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.